451 Mist 1 254 28 (1)

F 1 2 D
SID J. V
APR 10 1985

#### IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CLERK SUPREME COURT

JEFFREY A. MUEHLEMAN,

Appellant,

vs. : Case No. 65,546

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Hall of Justice Building 455 N. Broadway Avenue Bartow, Florida 33830 (813)533-1184 or 533-0931

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 28, 1983 a Pinellas County grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant, Jeffrey A. Muehleman, with the premeditated murder of Earl C. Baughman. (R14-15,102-103) Muehleman initially pled not guilty (R16), but changed his plea to guilty on May 1, 1984. (R631-642)

A penalty trial was conducted before a jury on May 2-6, 1984, with the Honorable Crockett Farnell presiding. (R643-1259,2230-2551) The jury recommended by a ten to two vote that Muehleman be sentenced to death. (R304,1254) On June 8, 1984 Judge Farnell imposed a sentence of death upon Muehleman. (R307-308,1340)

In support of the death sentence the trial court found the following aggravating circumstances:

- (1) That the capital felony was committed while Muehleman was engaged in the robbery of Earl Baughman. (R309, A1-2)
- (2) That the homicide was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody. (R310-311,A2-3)
- (3) That the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. (R311-312,A3-4)
- (4) That the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R312-313,A4-5)

The court found the statutory mitigating circumstance of Muehleman's age of 18 at the time of the crime. (R315,A6)

He cited the fact that Muehleman pled guilty as being "probably the most mitigating factor." (R1340) The court also recognized that Muehleman's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was impaired, but did not find this impairment to be "substantial" enough to qualify for the statutory mitigating circumstance. (R314-315,A6-7)

Jeff Muehleman filed his notice of appeal to this Court on June 26, 1984. (R316) The Public Defenders for the Sixth and Tenth Judicial Circuits were appointed to represent him on appeal. (R318)

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

When Jeffrey Alan Muehleman was born in Elmhurst, Illinois, forceps had to be used to deliver him. (R1188, "black book" 1/2) This resulted in a gross, but temporary, deformity of his skull which caused his mother to be depressed and fearful, and caused other people to shun the child. (R494,495,959-960,1008, 1134,1142,1153,1160-1161,1191-1192, "black book") He did not breathe spontaneously at birth, and a tube carrying oxygen had to be forced down his throat to stimulate his breathing. (R1008, "black book")

Muehleman also was born with club feet and had to wear plaster casts from the waist down only a few days after he was born, followed by braces and then corrective and orthopedic shoes after the casts were removed. (R960,1008-1009,1107-1108, 1134,1160-1161,1191,1197-1198, "black book") He had a number of other health problems during his early years, including a hernia, eczema, allergies, colic, high fevers, severe diarrhea, bronchial asthma, and assorted other respiratory tract infections. (R960, 1008-1011,1065,1160,1193-1194,1199-1201, "black book") He cried constantly. (R1159-1160,1192-1193)

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{2}$  The so-called "black book" was introduced at Muehleman's penalty trial as Defendant's Exhibit Number Five. (R928-935) It contained Muehleman's school record, medical and psychiatric history, a record of the times he was institutionalized, etc. (R928-935) The original "black book" was sent to this Court as a supplement to the record on appeal. (R2558) The court clerk did not, however, make copies thereof for the respective attorneys, and so counsel will be unable to make reference to specific pages of the record on appeal when referring to the "black book."

Muehleman was hyperactive and aggressive by age three. (R1011-1012,1124,1133,1142,1144,1162,1163-1164,1202,1207-1208, "black book") He was given tranquilizers and Ritalin, to no avail. (R1012,1144,1207-1208)

The health problems Muehleman experienced as a child prevented him from bonding with his mother and forming a normal, loving relationship. (R961-962,1004-1007,1011-1012,1203) His mother resorted to screaming and cursing at him. (R1142-1143, 1149-1150,1205)

When Muehleman was nine years old his father left the family. (R1158,1168-1169,1210-1212)

Muehleman turned to alcohol and drugs when he was in the third grade. (R1028,1048,1125,1172-1173,1303)

Several times Muehleman was placed in special schools for children with emotional or behaviorial problems, and seemed to function better while he remained in the structured environments they offered. (R962,993-994,1019-1021,1110,1166,1174-1175, 1216-1217, "black book")

When Muehleman was 14 his mother struck him, tied him up, and committed him to a mental hospital. (R1170-1171,1178, "black book")

Muehleman had two younger brothers, both of whom were developing normally. (R995,1208)

There was not a single year of Jeff Muehleman's life when he was not having significant problems with his growth, development, behavior, and interpersonal relationships. (R1019) He was deficient in social interpersonal judgment and moral

scruples. (R949,952) He probably suffers from organic brain damage. (R953-955,973,1027,1033-1036,1043-1044,1217-1218)

Finally, when he was 18 years old, Muehleman left Illinois and came to Florida to start over. (R1076-1077) Richard Wesley introduced Muehleman to his cousin, Marie Woodward, in April, 1983. (R690-691) Muehleman and Wesley were considering renting a garage belonging to Marie Woodward and her husband, Jeff, to do auto body work. (R625,690-691) In the meantime, the Woodwards let Muehleman stay in the garage until he could find a place to stay. (R690-691) Richard Wesley paid Jeff Woodward \$40 or \$60 rent for the garage, part of which came from Jeff Muehleman. (R626,630) This was not the full amount of rent Woodward had requested. (R626) While Muehleman was living in the garage, Jeff Woodward continued to have access to it. (R628)

On May 2, 1983, 97 year old Earl Baughman hired Jeff
Muehleman as a "helper." (R649-650,659,665,672-673) The following
day Muehleman took Baughman and Baughman's friend, Virginia
Petersen, to the grocery store. (R651) That same day Muehleman
returned to his residence to pick up his belongings. (R692) He
was driving a 1961 Cadillac. (R693) He was drinking a can of
beer in a brown paper bag. (R694)

Muchleman told Marie Woodward about the job he had gotten working for an old man for \$60 a week, plus room and board. (R693) Woodward testified at the penalty trial that Muchleman said something about drugging the old man from month to month and bringing him around the first of the month to cash his check. (R695) She did not take this statement seriously,

but believed Muehleman to be joking. (R696,708) There were about 10 people present when the remark was made, and they laughed because they too believed Muehleman to be joking. (R695,707)

On May 4 Muehleman took Earl Baughman and Virginia Petersen to the bank so that they could cash their social security checks. (R651-652) Baughman had a check for \$426, as well as a personal check for \$100. (R652)

Jeff Muehleman was kind and polite to Baughman, and helped him in and out of his car. (R661-662)

Virginia Battle, Earl Baughman's daughter, visited him on May 4. (R664) She met his helper, Jeffrey, who said he was from Chicago. (R665) When Battle asked Jeffrey what his last name was, he wrote "Jeff Williams" in an appointment book her father had. (R666-668,850) When Battle left her father's house at around 8:30 p.m., everything seemed all right. (R668)

The next day, May 5, Baughman was missing. (R656,668)

The page in his book on which his helper had written his name was torn out. (R668-669) Baughman's bed was ruffled, and was not like it normally was when he slept in it. (R669) In the kitchen there was a plate on the table with a little piece of bread or something on it. (R670) Baughman's car, a 1961 Cadillac, was gone. (R656,658)

Jeff Muehleman stayed at his garage apartment on the Woodward's property the night of May 5. (R709) He was arrested the next day. (R709-710)

Muehleman's arrest came about after Deputy Billie
Lions of the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department responded to a

computer message to proceed to a certain address and detain a subject there regarding an investigation involving a missing person that was pending in the detective bureau. (R579-580) Lions made contact with Mr. Constable, who told him that the description of a vehicle he had seen on the news fit the description of a vehicle that had been at his residence several times, driven by a man who was staying at his garage. (R580-581) The man had just gone to the store on Constable's son's bicycle. (R581)

Lions left the residence and spotted the subject about 30 seconds later. (R582,584) The subject saw Lions, covered his face with his arm, looked up. (R582) He jumped off the bike and turned around, whereupon Lions grabbed him by the arm and brought him back to the patrol car, where he was detained in the back seat. (R582-583) Lions asked him his name, and he said it was Ed Buchanan. (R582-583) Constable advised Lions that the subject was definitely not named Ed Buchanan, but was named Jeffrey. (R583) Lions then arrested Jeff Muehleman for "obstructing by false information." (R583)

Muehleman was not free to leave at any time after Lions grabbed his arm. (R589-590) Lions did not have a warrant to arrest Muehleman, nor did he have any personal knowledge or information about any crime Muehleman had committed or was warranted for, nor probable cause to arrest him. (R590-591)

Another sheriff's deputy, John Daniels, arrived on the scene after Muehleman's arrest. (R592,596,606,680) He read Miranda to Muehleman, who agreed to talk. (R597,681) Muehleman

gave Daniels his true name. (R598,681) He said that he last saw Earl Baughman on May 4 at around 10:00 p.m. when he left him. At that time Baughman was fine. (R598,681,781) Muehleman denied any involvement in Baughman's disappearance. (R598,681,781) He indicated he had taken a cigarette lighter and some cosmetics and other small items without Baughman's permission. (R600,682, 782) He also said he had given a false name when he applied for employment with Baughman because he did not want any trouble if he decided to terminate his employment. (R600,682) Muehleman told Daniels he was leaving Florida right away and was not going back to his apartment. (R599)

Daniels felt the sheriff's deputies had sufficient cause to detain Muehleman because they needed him to answer some of the questions they had regarding Earl Baughman's disappearance, but the deputies did not have probable cause to arrest Muehleman on the basis of the BOLO that was issued. (R612-613)

Three searches were conducted of Muehleman's garage apartment. (R554) Muehleman gave consent for the first one after he was arrested, and the Woodwards gave consent for the other two. (R554,609,628-629,682-683,703,797-798)

Jeff Muehleman invoked his right to remain silent on May 9. (R568)

On May 14, 1983 Earl Baughman's body was found in the trunk of his Cadillac on a St. Petersburg street. (R716,785) It was badly decomposed. (R720) The medical examiner, Dr. Joan Wood, could not find injury to the brain or skull. (R722) Both sides of the hyoid bone were broken, and there was damage to the

cartilage in the neck, which Dr. Wood found to be consistent with manual strangulation. (R722-725) There were two plastic bags of the type used around newspapers in Baughman's mouth. (R723-724, 788) Dr. Wood conducted an autopsy on Baughman's body, and opined that asphyxiation was the cause of his death. (R724)

Dr. Wood could not say whether Baughman was conscious or unconscious when the bags were put into his throat and windpipe. (R725) She stated that if someone were being manually strangled, they would remain conscious for about 30 to 45 seconds. (R725-726)

After Baughman's body was found, on May 17 Deputies Ron Beymer and John Halliday interviewed Jeff Muehleman at the maximum security jail facility. (R785,788) At that point he was not in custody on any charges relating to Earl Baughman's disappearance. (R788) Muehleman continued to deny his involvement in Baughman's killing. (R841) However, Beymer noticed some inconsistencies with Muehleman's earlier statements. (R791-793)

During the May 17 interview Beymer fed Muehleman false information about finding gloveprints in the trunk of Baughman's car. (R834)

On May 18 Muehleman requested that Detective Halliday return to the jail by himself for another interview. (R795,841) During that interview Muehleman continued to deny his involvement in Baughman's disappearance, and said he would beat the charge if he was charged with the murder. (R842)

While he was in the Pinellas County Jail, Jeff
Muehleman came into contact with an eight-time convicted felon

named Ronald Rewis. (R734-736,758) Jail personel placed Muehleman in the laundry on C-Wing to work with Rewis, who was working with Detective Halliday. (R410)

Muehleman discussed his case with Rewis on four or five different occasions. (R745) According to Rewis, Muehleman confessed to killing Baughman. Muehleman told Rewis he decided to rob and kill the old man on the afternoon of May 4. (R738-739) Muehleman had discussed doing the crimes with another man, but he did not show up. (R739) Muehleman first set out two cups and some bread crumbs on the table so that if someone checked the next morning, it would look as if he and Baughman had eaten breakfast and gone for a ride in the car. (R742-743) He also wiped down items inside the house from which his fingerprints could be taken. (R739) Muehleman then took a frying pan off the stove, entered Baughman's bedroom where he was sleeping, and hit him with it, opening Baughman's head. (R739,742) Muehleman told Rewis the pan made a "gong" sound, and laughed about that. (R739) The blow with the pan did not knock Baughman out, and so Muehleman tried to strangle him with his hands. (R739) This was unsuccessful because the windpipe was very flexible. (R739-740) Muehleman then took the plastic wrapper from a newspaper and stuck it down the man's throat. (R740) He laughed when he told Rewis this. (R740) The plastic bag was bubbling in and out. (R740-741) Muehleman took about \$150 from Baughman, wrapped his body in the bedcovers, and put him in the car trunk. (R741-742) He returned to the house and began looking for more money. (R741) He took a hot water bottle and other items that had

blood on them from the bed and burned them in back of the house. (R742) He then returned to the garage apartment where he hid the money and dropped off some tapes he had taken from the house. (R742,744) From there he drove to some apartments where he parked Baughman's car and "wiped it down." (R744) He had breakfast, returned to his garage apartment, and went to bed. (R744)

After Rewis heard details of the crime from Muehleman, he alerted Detention Officer Jacobs, who put him in touch with the detectives. (R745-746) They asked Rewis to let them know if Muehleman said anything else, and asked Rewis if he was willing to try to get a tape of what Muehleman had been telling him. (R746,757) Rewis said he was willing to be "bugged," and the detectives equipped him with a tape recorder monitoring device, which was concealed in the front of his jail uniform. (R747-748) Rewis did in fact tape a conversation with Muehleman in the recreation yard. (R746-747) On the tape Rewis asked Muehleman why he did not merely take the old man's money, to which Muehleman responded that he had intentions of killing the man to start with. (R748) When Rewis asked Muehleman whether the killing bothered him, he said "no," and laughed about it. (R748)

On approximately three occasions Officer Jacobs called the sheriff's deputies to relay information which Rewis had gotten from Muehleman. (R796) In this way the detectives learned on May 18 that Muehleman was worried after they fed him the false information on the 17th concerning fabric marks being found in Baughman's car. (R834,856) This is also how they learned that money was still hidden in the garage apartment, and

where it was located. (R797-799) Rewis similarly provided them with information that another subject was involved in the planning of the crime, that Baughman had been struck on the head with an unknown object, and that there was blood on the bed that Muehleman had hidden. (R801,856-857) Rewis also conveyed information to them about a coffee cup and crumbs or items being strewn about Baughman's kitchen. (R800)

Detective Beymer interviewed Rewis on May 31, 1983 and learned for the first time that a frying pan was used to hit the victim and that something might have been burned in a barrel in Baughman's back yard. (R796-797,817) He took a taped statement from Rewis on June 7. (R806)

Ronald Rewis had given Officer Jacobs information about other inmates on C-Wing on one other occasion. (R863) He had also provided information to another correctional officer relating to a planned escape attempt by two inmates. (R772,863-864,943)

On April 21, 1983, Rewis had pled guilty to felonious possession of a firearm. (R461-462,760,943) The prosecutor had recommended that he be sentenced to five years in prison. (R943) Although no promises were made to Rewis regarding his sentence, in the back of his mind he thought he might get some help in this regard. (R750) And Detective Beymer did agree to be available for the sentencing hearing. (R808-809) When Rewis was finally sentenced on March 2, 1984, he received five years' probation, with a year of specified residency in the county jail (credit for 201 days already served) and two years community control. (R461-462)

Detectives Beymer and Halliday interviewed Jeff Muehleman again on June 8, 1983, at Muehleman's request. (R812, 843) He initially denied his involvement in the crime once again. (R813) But then the detectives confronted him with the evidence they had amassed against him, including the fact that they had received information from Ronald Rewis, and that Rewis had worn a body bug. (R814,844) Muehleman finally admitted killing Baughman, and gave a detailed statement. (R352-360,814,844) said he killed the old man because he hated him and knew he had obtained \$500 at the bank. (R814) The man was grumpy, would not bathe, and urinated on himself. (R815) Muehleman was homesick and needed money to fly home. (R814) He initially struck Baughman with a small frying pan about six times, and took \$145 or \$153 from his wallet and pockets. (R815,819) He then tried to strangle him with his hands for several minutes. (R816) Baughman was still breathing, and so he pushed a plastic bag down his throat. (R816-817) He could see the bag beginning to inflate, and so he pushed it further down the throat. (R817) A few minutes later Baughman had expired, and Muehleman wrapped him in a blanket. (R817) He cleaned up the residence and burned some items that had blood on them, as well as Baughman's wallet and identification, in the back yard. (R817)

It was unclear when Muehleman actually made the decision to kill Baughman. (R846-847) Muehleman said he had planned on doing "it" for two or three hours. (R816) But in his taped confession he said he did not plan to kill him, but only to knock him out. (R355) He only killed him to keep him from

suffering when he realized he had probably caused Baughman brain damage. (R353,355)

Muehleman cried during his taped interview. (R825)

It was on June 8 that Muehleman was formally booked on first degree murder charges. (R854)

Muehleman gave a statement to reporter Christopher Smart as well, which led to an article that appeared in the St. Petersburg Times on June 9. (R482,845,857)

On June 10 Muehleman gave his final statement to Detectives Halliday and Beymer. (R362-364,845-846) He again stated that he initially intended only to knock Baughman unconscious and take his money. (R363) But after being struck with the frying pan a few times, Baughman said, "Oh, Jeff," and reminded Muehleman of his grandfather. (R363) At that point Muehleman felt he had to put Baughman out of his misery, and not leave him brain-damaged or otherwise handicapped. (R363-364)

Before his penalty trial, Muehleman moved to suppress all statements he had made, as well as all physical evidence as the fruit of his illegal arrest. (R225-231) The motion was heard by Judge Farnell on May 1, 1984 (R547-631), and denied. (R232,620) Before penalty phase testimony began, Muehleman lodged a continuing objection to any evidence he had sought to suppress. (R2417-2418) The statements Muehleman made to the police and to Ronald Rewis were introduced by the State at the penalty trial, and reference was made to his statement to Christopher Smart. (R351-360,361-364,681-682,738-745,746-749,780-785,788-794,797-799,800,801,812-820,825,841-850,856-857)

Also introduced was physical evidence obtained from Muehleman's person or from his garage apartment, including Earl Baughman's cigarette lighter (R659), his hat, shoes, electric razor and tioletry items (R658,782-783,823-824), and money that was presumably the money stolen from Baughman. (R336,338,704-705,807-808)

During Jeff Muehleman's presentation of mitigating evidence, the State was permitted to introduce a document entitled "Juvenile Social History Report," which detailed Muehleman's juvenile record and contained a number of comments about him (R428-443,1059-1060), and to introduce tapes of the conversation with Muehleman that was secretly recorded by Ronald Rewis at the jail. (R1229-1231)

As rebuttal evidence the State was allowed to introduce, over objection, a transcript of a taped interview with Richard Wesley in which he described how Muehleman had tried to recruit him to assist in robbing and killing Earl Baughman and dumping his body. (R1224-1229)

The State also introduced in rebuttal, over objection, testimony concerning crimes Muehleman allegedly committed in Illinois, including an assault on his mother (R1237), burglary (R1240-1243), theft (R1243), battery (R1243), theft of gasoline (R1248-1250), possession of marijuana (R1250), and failure to appear. (R1251)

Muehleman raised several objections to the prosecutor's closing argument. (R2503-2504)

At the conference on jury instructions, where counsel waived Muehleman's presence (R2428), the defense asked the court

to instruct on all aggravating and mitigating circumstances, except the mitigating factor of no significant history of prior criminal activity, which was waived. (R1232,2429-2430,2450-2451) The court denied the request. (R2431) Counsel for Muehleman also requested a number of special instructions in writing, and specifically asked for an instruction on the statutory mitigating circumstance of the crime having been committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, with the limiting word "extreme" to be stricken. (R282-298,2441-2451) The court denied these requests as well. (R282-298,2434,2441-2451)

Over objection (R2432,2450-2451) the court instructed on the following aggravating circumstances, and gave an instruction on premeditation in conjunction with the fourth circumstance (R2543-2544): (1)The crime was committed while the defendant was engaged in a robbery. (2) The crime was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody. (3) The crime was committed for financial gain. (4) The crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The court instructed on three mitigating circumstances (R2545): (1) Capacity of defendant to appreciate criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to requirements of law was substantially impaired. (2) Age of defendant at time of crime. (3) Any other aspect of defendant's character or record and any other circumstances of offense.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The statements Jeff Muehleman made to sheriff's deputies, a jailhouse informant, and a newspaper reporter should have been suppressed. All were products of his illegal warrantless arrest. Some were obtained after he had invoked his right to remain silent. Some were obtained by the informant acting as a state agent, violating Muehleman's self-incrimination privilege and right to counsel.

Physical evidence taken from Muehleman and his garage apartment likewise should have been suppressed as fruit of the illegal arrest. Muehleman had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the apartment. Muehleman's purported consent to search was tainted by the illegal arrest. The Woodwards had no authority to consent.

Jeff Muehleman's conviction and sentence should be vacated, as they were predicated upon inadmissible evidence, and because Muehleman was not present during part of the hearing on his motion to suppress, nor at the jury charge conference.

The jury's death recommendation was tainted by the State's presentation of inadmissible evidence against Muehleman. A document entitled "Juvenile Social History Report" detailed his entire criminal record as a juvenile, and contained damaging comments by various people. It was hearsay, totally irrelevant, and invaded the province of the jury. Furthermore, defense counsel was forced to furnish a copy of the report to the State despite the trial court's pretrial ruling that discovery would not apply at the penalty phase. The State also presented evidence,

some of it hearsay, concerning a number of offenses Muehleman allegedly committed in Illinois. This testimony again was irrelevant and, though introduced in rebuttal, did not serve to rebut any evidence Muehleman had presented. Also inadmissible as rebuttal evidence was a transcript of a tape-recorded interview with Richard Wesley, who said he agreed to help Muehleman kill Earl Baughman the day before the homicide actually occurred, but could not go through with it. The transcript was not authenticated by Wesley, was not the best evidence of what he told the sheriff's deputy, did not rebut any of the mitigating evidence Muehleman presented, and was hearsay denying Muehleman his rights of confrontation and cross-examination.

Muchleman was unduly restricted in his presentation of mitigating evidence when the court refused to allow the jury to read a newspaper article which a reporter wrote after interviewing Muchleman, and refused to allow them to consider testimony of Muchleman's maternal grandmother concerning her feelings for him. He was also improperly prevented from introducing a portion of the transcript of pre-trial conference in the case of Ronald Rewis, which would have helped Muchleman impeach the credibility of this important State witness.

The prosecutor below made a prejudicial closing argument to the jury which improperly appealed to passion and sympathy, suggested that Muehleman would kill again if he were not executed, misled the jury concerning the nature of the homicide and the aggravating and mitigating circumstances applicable thereto, expressed the prosecutor's personal beliefs concerning

the evidence and what it showed, called upon the jury to, in effect, "send a message," and included comment not based upon the evidence.

The instructions the court gave the jury were incomplete and misleading. They did not include all aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and specifically should have included an instruction on the crime having been committed while Muehleman was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, as well as his proposed special instruction defining the aggravating circumstance of the homicide having been committed to avoid arrest. The jury was misled by the court's instruction on "killing with premeditation," given in connection with the "cold, calculated and premeditated" aggravating circumstance.

The trial court improperly included some aggravating circumstances in the sentencing weighing process and excluded legitimate mitigating circumstances. He should not have considered Muehleman's supposed lack of remorse, and his findings did not support his conclusions concerning the aggravating circumstances of commission of the murder for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody, heinous, atrocious or cruel, and cold, calculated and premeditated. Also, the court failed to give adequate consideration to Jeff Muehleman's mental and emotional problems as a statutory or non-statutory mitigating circumstance, and failed to give any or adequate consideration to the evidence Muehleman presented of such non-statutory mitigating circumstances as his guilty plea and confessions, troubled home life, potential for rehabilitation, and conduct as a model prisoner.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I.

### Α.

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS JEFF MUEHLEMAN MADE TO LAW ENFORCEMENT AUTHORITIES, TO STATE AGENT RONALD REWIS, AND TO REPORTER CHRISTOPHER SMART, AS THE STATEMENTS WERE THE FRUIT OF AN ILLE-GAL WARRANTLESS ARREST, AND SOME WERE OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF MUEHLEMAN'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

## В.

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS PHYSICAL EVIDENCE OBTAINED FROM MUEHLEMAN AND HIS GARAGE APART-MENT, AS SUCH EVIDENCE WAS THE FRUIT OF AN ILLEGAL ARREST, AND WAS OBTAINED WITHOUT A WARRANT IN VIOLATION OF MUEHLEMAN'S RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM UNREASONABLE SEARCHES AND SEIZURES.

#### A. Statements.

Jeff Muehleman was effectively under arrest from the moment Deputy Lions grabbed his arm. He was thereafter placed in the back of a sheriff's car and was not free to leave. (R582-583,589-590) See Melton v. State, 75 So.2d 291 (Fla.1954); Young v. State, 394 So.2d 525 (Fla.3d DCA 1981).

Even if he was not under actual arrest, Muehleman clearly was deprived of his freedom in a more significant way than the brief encounter authorized by the Supreme Court of the United States in <a href="Terry v. Ohio">Terry v. Ohio</a>, 395 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968).

The deputies had no warrant to arrest Muehleman (R590), and conceded that they had no probable cause to arrest him

(R591,612), but wished to detain Muehleman in order to conduct an investigation and question him. (R579-580,612-613). $\frac{2}{}$  There can be no doubt that they intended to hold onto him until their questions were answered.

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