IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

JEFFREY A. MUEHLEMAN,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 65,546

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

NOV 8 1999  
CLERK OF THE COURT  
By: *Samya*  
Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY  
STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE ANSWER TO SUPPLEMENTAL  
BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JIM SMITH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY O. WELCH  
Assistant Attorney General  
Park Trammell Building  
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804  
Tampa, Florida 33602  
(813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court's decision in Van Royal v. State, 11 F.L.W. 490 (Fla. Sept. 18, 1986), is not applicable to the instant case since the written sentencing order was filed and executed prior to certification of the record and since there was no jury recommendation of life.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT EXECUTED IT'S SENTENCING  
ORDER PRIOR TO CERTIFICATION OF THE RECORD  
AND THE CORRESPONDING LOSS OF JURISDICTION.

In the appellant's supplemental brief he asserts that since the trial court orally announced the sentence on June 8, 1984; the appellant filed his notice of appeal on June 26, 1984; and the trial court filed its written order on August 28, 1984; the death penalty must be vacated under the teaching of Van Royal v. State, 11 F.L.W. 490 (Fla. Sept. 18, 1986).

Upon viewing Van Royal, supra, there are numerous and decisive differences. In Van Royal, the trial court waited more than one month after the jury recommendation to orally pronounce the death sentence. Furthermore, the notice of appeal in Van Royal was filed on November 7, 1984 and the appellate record was received by this Court on March 7, 1985. See attached order of this Court dated March 8, 1985 provided as appendix. Thereafter, the trial court executed a written sentencing order on April 15, 1985. Attached is sentencing order executed by circuit court in Van Royal. Whereas the written order in Van Royal was executed after the certification of the record, the trial court retained only jurisdiction for ministerial acts and not to make any substantive findings.<sup>1</sup> With this as a setting, this Court was also

---

<sup>1</sup>Van Royal incorrectly states that the written sentencing order was filed 6 months after certification of the record.

presented with a jury recommendation of life. When the jury has recommended mercy this Court will reduce the trial court death sentence to life if there is any reasonable basis for the jury recommendation. See Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975) Thus this court determined that since there was no valid order upon which to determine that the trial court used the appropriate analysis in determining the propriety of the death sentence and since the lapse of time between the jury recommendation and the order which delineated the trial courts weighing process precluded this Court from determining whether the trial court had given the jury recommendation the great weight to which it was entitled, this court was left with only the presumption given to the jury recommendation of life, and as such, determined that death was inappropriate as a matter of law. Sub judice, the trial court was not concerned with Tedder or the great weight to be given a jury recommendation of life since the jury recommended death. Furthermore, this court order of November 7, 1984 discloses that the record in this case was certified to this court after the trial court filed its written sentencing order. As such, the written order was properly within the trial court's domain.

Appellee would also note that Van Royal is still on rehearing and submits that Van Royal as originally decided is a mutation which should be reconsidered in light of the following.

Contrary to this Court's opinion in Van Royal, §921.141(3) was not meant to be read in isolation so as to mandate a life sentence when procedural aspects of the statute are not followed, but

rather, that when §921.141 is read in the entirety, it is evident that §921.141(3) means that if the finding that the aggravating factors do not outweigh the mitigating the trial court must impose a life sentence. §921.141(3) should not dictate that when a trial court is derelict in timely performing the statutory weighing process that life must be imposed. As this court readily acknowledged in Van Royal, the weighing process is an integral part the death penalty scheme. To allow the decision to be made as to who is to receive death and who is to receive life without the benefit of the weighing process is in substance an arbitrary application of the death penalty scheme. Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). The only difference between the imposition of a valid death sentence and a life sentence under Van Royal is the timing of the written order. Surely, the propriety in the death penalty cannot be distinguished in like cases merely on the grounds that the trial court's written findings were before the filing of a notice of appeal rather than the following day.

The trial court is not required to file written findings when he does a weighing of the sentencing factors and determines that the aggravating factors are insufficient to warrant the death penalty. When the trial court has found aggravating factors and the evidence clearly supports these findings beyond a reasonable doubt; it cannot be said that the trial court could not be completely overcome by the weight so as to announce his sentence orally after weighing the factors mentally. In fact, it is this type of case where the weight of the factors satisfy the Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), standard.

Van Royal apparently requires oral or written findings prior to the oral pronouncement of a death sentence and written findings to be made before jurisdiction is lost by the trial court. When is jurisdiction lost and the ability to provide a written sentencing order emasculated? If it is when a notice of appeal is filed can a criminal defendant rush to the clerk's office and thereby undermine a death sentence? If it is when a record is certified to this Court, could the chief judge order the clerk to refrain from transmitting the record until the trial court produces a written sentencing order? Can a criminal defendant avoid appellate review and a death sentence by not filing a notice of appeal? Van Royal makes these issues dispositive. However, these issues are not those which should provide an absolute bar to an otherwise legitimate death sentence. To remove such cases for any consideration is paramount to per se rule that the mitigating factors are not outweighed by the aggravating factors. Appellee submits that the bottom line in Van Royal is determined by the timing of procedural events rather than characteristic of the defendant, the record of the offender and the circumstances of the offense.<sup>2</sup> The per se life sentence based on procedural events rather than relevant sentencing criteria results in a life/death decision without any meaningful basis for distinguishing between those which receive life and those which receive death. See Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 at 313 (1972) (White, J. concurring).

In Van Royal this Court determined that resentencing was

---

<sup>2</sup>These factors result in individualized sentencing and have been considered as legitimate consideration in determining the propriety of a death sentence. See Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978).



not required and remanded for imposition of a life sentence was appropriate since the record was inadequate and not merely incomplete. Sub judice the record is complete. The findings are sufficient. As such, even if there was a Van Royal type error, any remand should be for a complete sentencing and not merely with directions that a life sentence be imposed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above-stated facts, arguments and authorities, Appellee would pray that this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the lower court.